THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker

Appellate Case No. 2024-002104

RECEIVED

Oct 13 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Wayne J. Rogers,Appellant,

v.

Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THE DODD LAW FIRM, LLC

/s/ Michael B. Dodd
SC Bar No.: 100599
The Dodd Law Firm, LLC
13 Sevier Street
Greenville, SC 29605
864-747-5607
michael@thedoddlawfirm.com

*Attorney for the Appellant,
Wayne J. Rogers.*

October 13, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This case presents two critical issues on appeal:

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error in finding that the deed subject to this action was valid on its face despite the overwhelming evidence that the Appellant Wayne J. Rogers lacked the capacity to comprehend the nature of his act?
2. Did the trial court err in finding that Plaintiff and Appellant Wayne J. Rogers has not met its burden to set aside the Deed based on fraud or forgery despite the overwhelming evidence indicating that either Arthur Rogers forged the signature or that the Appellant Wayne J. Rogers lacked the capacity to comprehend the nature of his act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an action brought by Appellant Wayne J. Rogers (“Appellant” or “Wayne”) to set aside a deed conveying real property located at 449 Westcliff Drive, Laurens County, South Carolina to Respondents Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers. The Summons and Complaint was filed on March 18, 2022 seeking a declaratory judgment from the court voiding the deed due to it being false, fraudulent, and forged. (Compl. passim (March 18, 2022); R. p.8.) Respondents file an answer and counterclaims on April 4, 2022 asserting defenses and two counterclaims, one for breach of warranty and the other for frivolous proceedings. (Ans. Passim (April 4, 2022); R. p.13.) The case was tried without a jury before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker on October 15, 2024. (Nov. 13, 2024 Order p.1; R. p.4.).

During the trial, Appellant, his wife Janice Rogers, and his stepson Jonathan Williams testified in support of Appellant’s claim that he never knowingly signed the deed in question, admitted into evidence as Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1. Appellant responded to questions under oath and stated multiple times that he did not remember the date in question that the deed was signed,

January 22, 2022, and also that he did not sign the deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. passim; R. p.19.). Appellant testified that Respondents Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers had tried in the past to convince him to give them the property subject to this action, 449 Westcliff Drive, Laurens County, South Carolina, but that he had no reason to give them the property. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 42:10-15; R. p.60.). Appellant further testified he never signed the deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 44:15-16; R. p.62.). Appellant also testified that his son Arthur had previously forged checks with his signature. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 45:21-25; R. p.63.). Arthur Rogers confirmed that he had indeed forged checks with his father's signature in the past.(October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 91:7-9; R. p.109.) indicating his ability to willingly forge his father's signature on documents.

Appellant's wife Janice Rogers testified that she lived with Appellant and her adult son Jonathan Williams and that one of the two of them must be at home with Appellant at all times, and that they had been his primary caregivers since approximately 2018 when Appellant retired from working due to his health. Janice Rogers also testified that she kept a diary (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2) where she wrote down each date and all the times during a day that she gave her husband medication. She testified that on January 22, 2022, the date the deed was supposed to have been signed, that she was home all day with her husband and produced the page showing that on January 22, 2022, she gave medicine to the Appellant and took his blood pressure many times throughout the day. Janice additionally testified that no one came to the home at Hunters Court that day. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. passim; R. p.41-100.). Both Janice Rogers and Jonathan Williams testified to being home all day at their home at Hunters Court in Laurens on January 22, 2022 and that they remember the day because it was the day after their cousin's funeral and that no one else came to the home that day. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. passim; R. p.35-100.).

Respondents presented testimony from attorney Gary L. Williams among other witnesses, who drafted the deed and claimed to have supervised its execution. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. passim; R. p.137-158.). Tomika Craig also testified that Appellant met with her and Arthur Rogers after the deed was recorded at a Whiteford’s Restaurant in Laurens. (October 17, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. 10:16; R. p.168.). Interestingly, Appellant testified to Arthur driving him to Whiteford’s Restaurant after he learned about the deed being recorded, however Appellant states that he was working at Enoree at the time, a clear contradiction from clear earlier testimony that he had retired due to his physical and mental health issues by at least 2018. Tomika Craig testified that she had gotten her father to transfer the mobile home title to her name and knew that she had to get the title to the property subject to this action as well. (October 17, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. 32:7-12; R. p.190.). The court made a ruling from the bench denying the Appellant relief sought, finding the deed valid and denying the Respondents relief on the counterclaims, and stating the court would file a written order in the case.

On November 13, 2024, Judge Hocker issued a Final Order denying relief to Appellant and finding the deed valid. (Nov. 13, 2024 Order p.3:8; R. p.6.). This appeal followed and the notice of appeal was timely filed with the court on December 12, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to set aside a deed or “rescind a contract lies in equity. *Gibbs v. G.K.H., Inc.*, 311 S.C. 103, 105, 427 S.E.2d 701, 702 (Ct. App. 1993). When reviewing an equitable action, this Court may determine the facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Thornton v. Thornton*, 328 S.C. 96, 111, 492 S.E.2d 86, 94 (1997); *Townes Associates*,

Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 395, 608 S.E.2d 849, 852 (2005). **In an equitable action, tried by the judge alone, without a reference, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.** *Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); *Greer v. Spartanburg Technical Coll.*, 338 S.C. 76, 79, 524 S.E.2d 856, 858 (Ct. App. 1999). *Verdery v. Daniels (In re Thames)*, 344 S.C. 564, 571, 544 S.E.2d 854, 857 (Ct. App. 2001)

ARGUMENT

- 1. Did the trial court commit reversible error in finding that the deed subject to this action was valid on its face despite the overwhelming evidence that the Appellant Wayne J. Rogers lacked the capacity to comprehend the nature of his act?**

Appellant testified that he “wasn’t keeping dates” (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. 49:25; R. p.67.) at the time of the purported deed in 2022 and so did not recall specific times and dates nor the signing of the deed. Later, Appellant testified that he met with Respondents after work at Enoree at a time when he had been retired from work for many years. Janice Rogers testified to having to take care of her husband’s daily needs since at least 2018 and that she and or her son Jonathan Williams were always around him as his caretakers, and that she logged his medications every day for his ongoing Parkinsons and Alzheimer’s diagnoses and both testified that this type of care was necessary for Appellant in 2022 at the time of the purported deed.

Tomika Craig testified that she had gotten her father to transfer the mobile home title to her name and knew that she had to get the title to the property subject to this action as well. (October 17, 2024 Tiral Hr’g Tr. 32:7-12; R. p.190.). Appellant testified that Respondents Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers had tried in the past to convince him to give them the property subject to

this action, 449 Westcliff Drive, Laurens County, South Carolina, but that he had no reason to give them the property. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 42:10-15; R. p.60.). Appellant further testified he never signed the deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 44:15-16; R. p.62.). Appellant also testified that his son Arthur had previously forged checks with his signature. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 45:21-25; R. p.63.). Arthur Rogers confirmed that he had indeed forged checks with his father's signature in the past.(October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 91:7-9; R. p.109.) indicating his ability to willingly forge his father's signature on documents.

Courts have upheld that where a deed is valid and regular on its face, it is presumed to be valid in all respects. *Avant v. Johnson*, 231 S.C. 119, 97 S.E. (2d) 396 (1957). *Davis v. Monteith*, 289 S.C. 176, 182, 345 S.E.2d 724, 727 (1986). However, the overwhelming evidence indicates that Appellant lacked capacity to enter into a contract, or to effectively transfer a deed, and as such any purported signature would be invalid, and thus any deed void. In order to warrant the cancellation of a legal transaction on the basis of the grantor's mental incapacity, it must appear that the grantor was so incompetent as to fail to comprehend the nature of his act. *Ballenger v. City of Inman*, 336 S.C. 126, 128, 518 S.E.2d 824, 826 (Ct. App. 1999). In this case, the evidence is clear and the court should find this fact in viewing this matter with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Further, even if the court upon reviewing the evidence, finds that Appellant signed the deed, the deed should fail due to undue influence upon him. The Supreme Court of South Carolina "has several times approved the principle that imposition or undue influence upon the grantor will be inferred from proof of great mental weakness, not amounting to incapacity to execute a valid deed, accompanied by gross inadequacy of consideration." *Brooks v. Kay*, 339 S.C. 479, 482, 530 S.E.2d 120, 122 (2000). In this case the Appellant lacked capacity

and was clearly influenced by his adult children in such a way as to make it unjust and inequitable to uphold this deed. The court should reverse the decision of the trial court.

2. Did the trial court err in finding that Plaintiff and Appellant Wayne J. Rogers has not met its burden to set aside the Deed based on fraud or forgery despite the overwhelming evidence indicating that either Arthur Rogers forged the signature or that the Appellant Wayne J. Rogers lacked the capacity to comprehend the nature of his act?

Appellant testified that Respondents Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers had tried in the past to convince him to give them the property subject to this action, 449 Westcliff Drive, Laurens County, South Carolina, but that he had no reason to give them the property. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 42:10-15; R. p.60.). Appellant further testified he never signed the deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 44:15-16; R. p.62.). Appellant further testified he never signed the deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 44:15-16; R. p.62.). Appellant also testified that his son Arthur had previously forged checks with his signature. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 45:21-25; R. p.63.). Arthur Rogers confirmed that he had indeed forged checks with his father's signature in the past.(October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 91:7-9; R. p.109.) indicating his ability to willingly forge his father's signature on documents. There is ample evidence that Arthur had the opportunity and motive to sign the deed over to himself and Tomika Craig. Additionally, there is evidence from not one, but three witnesses that state the Appellant Wayne Rogers, could not have signed the deed. An instrument may be set aside on the ground that it was forged. A claim to cancel a deed, for example, was stated where a plaintiff claimed family members had signed his name to a deed

without his knowledge. *McKinnon v. Summers*, 224 S.C.331, 79 S.E.2d 146 (1953). The overwhelming evidence is that the deed was signed without the knowledge of the Appellant.

Under the circumstances, the court should find the deed void and should overturn the trial court's decision.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant Wayne J. Rogers respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the Circuit Court. The evidence establishes that the deed dated January 22, 2022 was not a product of Appellant's knowing and voluntary act but rather was executed at a time when Appellant lacked sufficient mental capacity and under circumstances indicative of undue influence by the beneficiaries of the transfer. Equity demands that the deed be set aside. Appellant asks the court to reverse the lower court's ruling.