**RECEIVED**

**Oct 28 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker

C.A. No.: 2022-CP-30-00208  
Appellate Case No. 2024-002104

Wayne J. Rogers . . . . . Appellant,  
and

Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers are the . . . . . Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Clayton L. Jennings (S.C. Bar #68284)  
Jennings Law Firm, LLC  
1151 E. Washington St.  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 239-0055  
[clayton@jenningslawfirm.com](mailto:clayton@jenningslawfirm.com)

*Attorney for Respondents  
Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers*

October 27, 2025

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID APPELLANT MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVIDING CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT THE DEED IN QUESTION SHOULD BE SET ASIDE ON THE BASIS OF FORGERY?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wayne J. Rogers (“Appellant”) commenced this action by the filing of a Complaint on March 18, 2022 seeking declaratory judgment that his children, Tomika Craig and Arthur Rogers, (“Respondents”) had no right, title, or interest in or to the real property described in the Complaint of Appellant, despite a deed from Appellant to Respondents recorded in the Register of Deeds for Laurens County on February 4, 2022 in Deed Book 1630 at Page 86 (Complaint, March 18, 2022); R. p. 12). The allegations of the Complaint are that Appellant did not execute the deed to the real property and that the subject deed was false, fraudulent, and forged. (Complaint, March 18, 2022); R. p. 12). Respondents filed an Answer and Counterclaims asserting that Appellant had violated the general warranty provision of the deed to the subject real property and that Appellant had violated the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act. By Consent Order entered on June 10, 2022, Respondents agreed to strike their counterclaim for violation of the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act. (Consent Order, June 10, 2022); R. pp. 4-5).

The case was called for trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker on October 15, 2024 and was tried without a jury. Judge Hocker issued an Order on November 13, 2024 denying the relief sought by Appellant and finding that the deed in question was valid. (11/13/2024 Order, R. pp. 7-10). In the Order, Judge Hocker found that the subject deed was valid on its face and that Appellant failed to establish that the deed was fraudulent or forged. (11/13/2024 Order; R. p. 9).

Instead, Judge Hocker found that there was clear and convincing evidence that Appellant had, in fact, executed the subject deed. (11/13/20 Order, R. p. 9).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to set aside a deed is an action in equity. However, an action for recovery of possession of real property is an action at law. *McKinnon v. Summers*, 224 S.C. 331, 79 S.E.2d 146 (1953). In *Fesmire v. Digh*, 683 S.E.2d 803, 385 S.C. 296 (Ct. App. 2009), this Court summarized the standards of review applicable to actions at law versus actions in equity as follows:

In an action at law, the trial court's factual findings will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the trial court's findings. *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 775. In an action in equity, the appellate court may resolve questions of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 324 S.C. 570, 577, 479 S.E.2d 510, 513 (Ct.App.1996) (citing *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 775) (holding that because the master-in-equity heard the action, which was equitable in nature, without appeal to the circuit court, the appellate court could find the facts on appeal in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence). **However, this broad scope of review does not require this Court to disregard the findings at trial or to ignore the fact that the master was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.** *Laughon v. O'Braitis*, 360 S.C. 520, 524-25, 602 S.E.2d 108, 111 (Ct.App. 2004). (emphasis added)

In this case, Appellant sought declaratory judgment to establish that Respondents had no right, title, or interest in or to the subject real property on the sole basis that the subject deed was fraudulent or forged. (Complaint passim (March 18, 2022); R. pp. 12-13). Thus, Appellant's action for declaratory judgment to recover possession of the subject property is an action at law, although it rests entirely on the issue of setting aside the deed, which is an issue decided in equity. Since the gravamen of the Complaint is cancellation of a deed on the ground of forgery, the standard of review should be one of equity. *See McKinnon v. Summers*, 224 S.C. 331, 79 S.E.2d 146 (1953).

## ARGUMENT

### I. The Deed was Valid on its Face and is Presumed Valid in all Respects.

At trial, Appellant entered into evidence the subject deed that conveyed title to real property in the County of Laurens from Appellant to Respondents. Pl. Ex. 1, R. at pp. 206-207). (hereinafter, the “Deed”). The Deed identifies the grantor and the grantees, contains the language provided by S.C. Code Ann. §27-7-10, was properly witnessed and notarized as required by S.C. Code Ann. §30-5-30, and a derivation clause required by S.C. Code Ann. §30-5-35. The Deed was recorded in the Register of Deeds for Laurens County on February 4, 2022 in Deed Book 1630 at Page 86, as appears on the face of the Deed. “When an instrument has been recorded it is presumed that all requirements of law affecting the title to the realty have been complied with.” S.C. Code Ann. §12-24-110. In the absence of “clear, unequivocal, and convincing evidence the presumption will prevail that a deed of conveyance is what on its face appears to be.” *Creswell v. Smith*, 61 S.C. 575, 579, 39 S.E. 757 (S.C. 1901), citing *Brown v. Bank*, 55 S.C. 70, 32 S.C. 816. “Where a deed is valid and regular on its face, it is presumed to be valid in all respects.” *Davis v. Monteith*, 289 S.C. 176, 182, 345 S.E. 2d 724, 727 (1986), citing *Avant v. Johnson*, 231 S.C. 119, 97 S.E.2d 396 (1957).

Attorney Gary L. Williams, an attorney practicing in Laurens, South Carolina, testified that he prepared the Deed and recorded the Deed in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Laurens County. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. 119:15-25; 120:1-2; 122:4-10; 124:22-25; 125:1-4; R. pp. 137, 138, 140, 142, 143). Attorney Williams confirmed that he prepared the Deed in compliance with applicable statutes before recording the Deed with the Register of Deeds. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr’g Tr. 124:16-24; 125:8-10; R. pp. 142-143). For these reasons, the

Deed is valid on its face, and it was Appellant's burden to present clear and convincing evidence that the Deed should be set aside.

**II. An Experienced and Licensed Attorney Supervised and Witnessed the Execution of the Deed.**

Attorney Gary L. Williams, an attorney with over thirty-four (34) years of experience in Laurens, South Carolina, testified that he traveled to the home of Appellant in Laurens to witness the execution of the Deed by Appellant on January 22, 2022. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 122:7-11; R. p. 140). Attorney Williams testified regarding the date on which Appellant executed the Deed, the location of the Appellant's home in Laurens, the identity of the other witness to the Deed, and the persons who were present in the home at the execution of the Deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 120:1-25; 121:1-20; R. pp. 138-139). Attorney Williams confirmed that he received \$265.00 for preparation and recording of the Deed and authenticated the receipt for payment entered into evidence as Defendants' Exhibit 1. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 125:17-25; R. p. 143) (Defendants' Exhibit 1, R. p. 213). Attorney Williams identified Appellant in the courtroom as the same person who signed the Deed and ruled out the possibility that it was Arthur Rogers who executed the Deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 123:1-25; R. p. 141). Attorney Williams agreed that it would not make sense to risk the loss of his license to practice law over attesting to the signature of someone who did not sign a deed for a fee of \$265.00. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 123:23-25; 124:1-8; R. pp. 141-142) Judge Hocker found that Attorney Williams was a long-time and respected attorney in the community of Laurens and considered his testimony more reliable than the testimony of Appellant, who testified that he suffered from Alzheimer's Disease, had a poor memory, and who provided inconsistent testimony (11/13/20 Order, R. at 8).

**III. Appellant Failed to Demonstrate Forgery of the Deed.**

Appellant provided no expert to testify concerning the signature of the grantor on the Deed and instead relied upon testimony from Appellant, Appellant's spouse, Janice Rogers, and Appellant's stepson, Jonathan Williams, who testified that Attorney Williams and the other witness to the Deed did not appear at the home of Appellant on the date of execution of the Deed.

The testimony of Appellant was completely unreliable. First, Appellant testified that he suffered from Alzheimer's Disease and had a poor memory. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 46:21-25; 47:1-9; ; R. pp. 64-65). In addition, Appellant's responses to questions were wildly inconsistent. For example, Appellant testified that he learned of the Deed because someone placed a note on his fence while he was working in Enoree. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 52:5-17; R. pp. 70-71) At the same time, Appellant testified that he retired from Enoree Mills in 2018 and had never worked again. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 35:2-23; R. p. 53). The Deed was executed and recorded in the year 2022, four years after Appellant testified that he had retired.

Appellant's spouse, Janice Rogers, also provided unconvincing testimony. Janice Rogers testified that she did not see Attorney Williams at the home of Appellant on the date the Deed was executed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 76:21-22; R. p. 94). She further testified that her journal did not reflect the appearance of Attorney Williams or any visitors through the time of 12:30 p.m. on the date of execution of the Deed. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 71:18-25; 72:1-18; 73:8-10; R. pp. 89-91) On cross-examination, Janice Rogers admitted that she sometimes left her spouse, the Appellant, at home, and that Tomika Craig sometimes provided care for Appellant. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 81:18-25; R. p. 99). Furthermore, Janice Rogers conceded that she was upset that Respondents were going to evict her sister from the subject property at 449 Westcliff in Laurens, South Carolina based on the Respondents' claim to possession of the property. (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 88:5-17; R. p. 106). Finally, the only characteristic

of Appellant's signature that Janice Rogers could describe was that his signature was "small", but she confirmed that the signature on the Deed was also "small." (October 15, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 87:17-23; 88:1; R. pp. 105-106).

By contrast, Tomika Craig provided lucid and consistent testimony of details regarding the execution of the Deed. Respondent Tomika Craig testified that she and Arthur Rogers were Appellant's only two children and that Appellant wanted his children to have the subject property at 449 Westcliff Drive in Laurens. (October 17, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 6:11-25; 7:1-20; R. pp. 164-165). She indicated that she was present at Appellant's home when the Deed was executed, that she saw Gary L. Williams inside the home, and that Gary L. Williams sat with Appellant in his living room to execute the Deed while Tamika Craig was in the kitchen. (October 17, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 9:8-25; R. p. 167). The clear and consistent testimony of Tamika Craig, coupled with the testimony of Attorney Gary L. Williams, outweigh the dubious testimony of Appellant, who suffers from advanced Alzheimer's Disease and has poor memory, and the self-serving testimony of Appellant's spouse and stepson. Thus, Appellant failed to provide clear and convincing evidence to overcome the validity of the Deed that is valid on its face.

#### **IV. Appellant Did Not Allege Mental Incapacity or Undue Influence as a Basis to Set Aside the Deed and May Not Raise These Issues on Appeal.**

Appellant made no allegation related to mental capacity or undue influence in his Complaint. (Complaint, March 18, 2022); R. pp.12-13). Judge Hocker noted this at trial (October 17, 2024 Trial Hr'g Tr. 33:19-23; R. p. 191). Furthermore, Appellant did not argue at trial that the Deed should be declared invalid on the basis that Appellant lacked the necessary mental capacity to execute the Deed. Likewise, Appellant did not argue at trial that the Deed was the result of undue influence. An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. *Creech v. South Carolina*

*Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 34, 491 S.E.2d 571, 576 (1997) citing *Smith v. Phillips*, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d. 427 (1995). Therefore, Appellant may not raise these issues on appeal in an attempt to set aside the Deed.

Even if Appellant had raised the issue of lack of mental capacity to execute a deed by Appellant, the testimony at trial only demonstrated that Appellant lacked mental capacity at the time of trial, not on the date of executing the Deed, which occurred nearly two years and ten months prior to trial. Furthermore, Appellant provided no testimony or other evidence that Respondents unduly influenced Appellant into executing the Deed. Undue influence:

must be the kind of mental coercion which destroys the free agency of the creator and constrains him to do things which are against his free will, and that he would not have done if he had been left to his own judgment and volition. *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 333 (2003). The influence must be of such a degree that it prevents the grantor's exercise of judgment and free choice. *Id.* Moreover, a showing of general influence is not tantamount to undue influence. *Calhoun v. Calhoun*, 277 S.C. 527, 531, 290 S.E.2d 415, 418 (1982). For this Court to void a conveyance of land, a contestant must show that the undue influence was brought directly to bear upon the conveyance. *Russell*, 353 S.C. at 219, 578 S.E.2d at 335.

*Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E. 2d 849 (2005).

Even if Appellant had raised the issue of undue influence in his pleadings or at trial, the record is devoid of evidence to establish any mental coercion that destroyed the free agency of Appellant in the act of executing the Deed.

Furthermore, by pleading that the Deed was forged but now alleging that the Deed was the result of undue influence, Appellant is attempting to blow both hot and cold, something explicitly prohibited by our common law. "' . . . [A] pleader cannot blow hot one moment and cold another. He must stand by the cause of action he clearly intended to express.'" *Blue Bird Ice Cream Co.*

*v. American Employers' Ins. Co. of Boston, Mass.*, 182 S.C. 384, 189 S.E. 657 (1937), quoting *Scholtz v. Kerschensteiner*, 194 Wis. 92, 100, 215 N.W. 889, 891. As stated more recently:

[a] litigant cannot "blow both hot and cold." *McDaniels v. General Ins. Co. of Am.*, 1 Cal.App.2d 454, 36 P.2d 829, 832 (1934). Under the doctrine of judicial estoppel, a party that has assumed a particular position in a judicial proceeding, via its pleadings, statements, or contentions made under oath, is prohibited from adopting an inconsistent posture in subsequent proceedings.

*Cothran v. Brown*, 350 S.C. 352, 566 S.E.2d 548 (S.C.App. 2002), quoting 28 Am.Jur.2d Estoppel and Waiver § 74 (2000).

For these reasons, the Court should disregard the attempt by Appellants to set aside the Deed based on lack of mental capacity or undue influence.

### CONCLUSION

The Court of Common Pleas rightfully determined that Appellant failed to meet its burden to set aside the Deed on the basis of fraud or forgery. Considering the accurate and persuasive testimony of Attorney Gary L. Williams, the corroborating testimony of other witnesses, and the recorded Deed that is valid on its face, the relief sought by Appellant must be denied.